RECEIVED

JAN 07 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY

SC Administrative Law Court

Honorable Robert L. Reibold, Administrative Law Judge

Case No. 2025-001521

Terry Scott.....Appellant,

v.

Charleston County Assessor Respondent,

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Terry Scott
1619 Rodeo Drive
Virginia Beach, VA 23464
(757) 837-6838
Self-Represented

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY

SC Administrative Law Court

Honorable Robert L. Reibold, Administrative Law Judge

Case No. 2025-001521

Terry Scott

Appellant,

v.

Charleston County Assessor

Respondent

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Is the order granting summary judgement based on error of law?
2. Did the administrative court err in ordering a summary judgment based on procedures that prejudiced against the appellant?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, Terry Scott, has owned 1.6 acres of residential property located at 1109 Porcher School Road, Awendaw, South Carolina 29429, parcel number 6610000164 since December 2019. This property was willed to her by her father, James Mc Neil (R. pp. 27-30). In April of 2020, the property was conveyed to Appellant and recorded in Charleston County Book 0875, Page 896 (R. p. 31). In July of 2022, names of 3 family members were added to the property as allowed by South Carolina Code of Law, Title 12-Taxation Chapter 37 Assessment of Property Taxes Article 25, SECTION 12-37-3150(B)15 (R. pp.17, 44, 51-54, 60, 67, 74, 76). This code exempts transfers of property between family members from the classification of Assessable Transfer of Interest/ATI. For tax year 2023, Charleston County Assessor, classified the property as an ATI by applying SC Code 12-37-3150(A)8 which applies to corporations and business entities (R. p. 41). Appellant appealed the ATI classification (R. p. 76). The classification was affirmed. Appellant appealed the classification with Charleston County Board of Assessment Appeals in February 2025. The Board affirmed the decision of Charleston County Assessor on March 3, 2025. Appellant contested the decision of the board with

South Carolina Administrative Law Court (R. p. 76). On July 7, 2025, Honorable Robert J. Reibold entered an order in The South Carolina Administrative Law Court, docket 25-ALJ-17-0077-CC, granting Charleston County Assessor Summary Judgment by altering the “plain” language of SC Code 12-37-3150(B)15 (R. pp. 6-15). The granting of summary judgment was also based upon ignoring the error of the assessor. Finally, rules for civil procedures were disregarded which interfered with appellant’s due process. Appellant sent Proof of Service for Notice of Appeal on July 21, 2025, to Charleston County Assessor and Honorable Judge Robert J. Reibold.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In South Carolina, the Court of Appeals reviews orders granting summary judgment de novo. This means the appellate court makes its own independent judgment on the matter, without giving any deference to the lower court's decision. The appellate court essentially starts from scratch, reviewing the same evidence and legal arguments presented to the trial court. Determining the proper interpretation of a statute is a question of law, and this Court reviews questions of law de novo. *Catawba Indian Tribe v. State*, 372 S.C. 519, 524, 642 S.E.2d 751, 753 (2007). See also *Fairfield Waverly, LLC v. Dorchester County Assessor* 2020, <https://www.sccourts.org/>. Reviewing Appeal Cases from SC Administrative Law Court also falls under errors of law according to *CFRE, LLC v. Greenville Cty. Assessor*, 395 S.C. 67, 73, 716 S.E.2d 877, 880 (2011). The South Carolina Court of Appeals has jurisdiction pursuant to SC Code § 12-60-3380 (2024) which states “... Except as otherwise provided in this chapter, a party may appeal a

decision of the Administrative Law Court to the court of appeals. Appeal of a decision of the Administrative Law Court must be made in accordance with Section 1-23-610(B) of the South Carolina Appellate Court Rules”. S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380 provides that any party aggrieved by the final decision in a contested case and is exhausted with all administrative remedies is entitled to judicial review. The court cannot substitute its judgment for the judgment of the agency as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact. The court can affirm the decision of the agency or remand the case for further proceedings. The court can reverse or modify the decision if substantial rights of the appellant are prejudiced or the administrative findings, inferences, conclusions, or decisions:

- violates constitutional or statutory provisions;
- exceeds statutory authority of the agency;
- is made upon unlawful procedure.
- is affected by other error of law;
- is clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record; or
- is arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion...

FACTS

The facts of the case include the following:

- The appellant's father, James McNeil, willed 1.6 acre of residential property to her and deed conveyance occurred on February 18, 2020. It was recorded in Charleston County records on April 22, 2020 (See Exhibits A, and B) (R. pp. 27-31).
- In July of 2022, names of 3 family members, Sheila V. Powell, Emma Huger, appellant's siblings, and Dorial Doles, appellant's daughter, were added to the deed of the property. (See exhibits B, page 2, and C) (R. p. 28, lines 1-10) (R. p. 40) (R. pp. 51-54).
- For tax year 2023, Charleston County assessor/respondent classified the property as a corporation, business, limited liability etc. entity using SC Code 12-37-3150(A). Because of this classification, the property value was reassessed from \$82,300 in 2022 to \$170,000 in 2023. The result was property taxes increased from \$1229.12 in 2022 to \$2646.22 in 2023. (See Exhibit E) and (R. p. 41).
- Appellant appealed the 2023 assessment with Charleston Board of Appeals on February 26, 2025. On March 3, 2025, Charleston County Board of Assessment Appeals concurred with assessor/respondent.
- Appellant appealed the decision of Charleston County Board of Assessment with State of South Carolina Administrative Law Court and Honorable Judge Robert L.

Reibold was assigned to the contested case on April 11, 2025.

- On June 11, 2025, Respondent Sent Notice of Summary Judgment and Motion for Summary Judgment to Appellant by Certified US Postal (R. pp. 46-49). Respondent's/Assessor's Notice of Summary Judgment and the Motion for Summary Judgment was mailed by Certified US Postal Service to Honorable Judge Robert L. Reibold on June 23, 2025 (R. p. 6, lines 33-34).
- Honorable Judge Reibold signed an order granting summary judgment to respondent on July 7, 2025 (See Exhibit F), (R. pp. 6-15).
- The order granting summary judgment disregarded the use of SC Code 12-37-3150(A) (R. p. 9, lines 7-36-p. 10 lines 1-7) by respondent to reassess Appellant's residential property.
- The order granting summary judgment changed the word grantor to grantors and the word grantee to grantees denying appellant exemption status of SC Code 12-37-3150(B)15 (R. p. 12, lines 20-32- p. 13, lines 1-17).
- Appellant appeals the order granting summary judgement. Appellate Case No.2025-001521 was assigned (R. pp. 20-23). The case number was received on August 4, 2025, by US Postal Service.

ARGUMENT

I. The order granting summary judgment was based on error of law.

The appellant owns 1109 Porcher School Road residential property (R. pp. 31-39) and added names of 3 family members in July of 2023 (R. pp. 51-54) (See exhibits B, page 2, and C) (R. p. 28, lines 1-10) (R. p. 40).

- A. SC Code 12-37-3150(B)15 States “an assessable transfer of interest does not include a transfer of a fractional interest between family members for zero monetary consideration, or a de minimis monetary consideration, whereby both the grantor and the grantee owned an interest in the property prior to the transfer”. In the order granting summary judgment, the “plain” language and meaning of SC Code 12-37-3150(B)15 were altered by changing grantor to grantors and grantee to grantees thereby denying appellant exemption status (R. p. 12, lines 20-32- p. 13, lines 1-17). The following cases provide guidance for interpreting statutes. The primary purpose in interpreting statutes is to ascertain and effectuate the intent of the legislature. *Cain v. Nationwide Prop. and Cas. Ins. Co.*, 378 S.C. 25, 29, 661 S.E.2d 349, 351 (2008). Under the plain meaning rule, it is not the Court's place to change the meaning of a clear and unambiguous statute. *Hodges v. Rainey*, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 (2000). No. 26792. Furthermore, “[w]here there is one statute addressing an issue in general terms and another statute dealing with the identical issue in a more specific and definite manner, the more “specific statute” (Emphasis added) will be considered an exception to, or a

qualifier of, the general statute and given such effect." *Spectre, LLC v. S.C. Dept. of Health and Envtl. Control*, 386 S.C. 357, 688 S.E.2d 844, 851 (2010). In the order granting summary judgement, the "plain" language and meaning of SC Code 12-37-3150(B)15 (R. p. 12, lines 20-32- p. 13, lines 1-17) were altered by changing grantor to grantors and grantee to grantees thereby denying appellant exemption status. It is noted that this statute is one of several property tax statutes. The case of *S.C. State Ports Authority v. Jasper Cty* states "We do not look at statutes in isolation. Instead, we consider how the statutes operate with each other when striving to arrive at any one statute's proper meaning". See *S.C. State Ports Auth. v. Jasper Cty.*, 368 S.C. 388, 398, 629 S.E.2d 624, 629 (2006) ("In construing statutory language, the statute must be read as a whole and sections which are a part of the same general statutory law must be construed together and each one given effect."); *Duke Energy Corp. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 415 S.C. 351, 355, 782 S.E.2d 590, 592 (2016) ("[T]he [c]ourt should not concentrate on isolated phrases within the statute, but rather, read the statute as a whole and in a manner consonant and in harmony with its purpose."). The cardinal rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and effectuate the intent of the legislature. *Charleston County Sch. Dist. v. State Budget and Control Bd.*, 313 S.C. 1, 437 S.E.2d 6 (1993). Under the plain meaning rule, it is not the court's place to change the meaning of a clear and unambiguous statute. *Montgomery v. Spartanburg County Assessor* 419 S.C. 77, 795 S.E.2d 866,

(2016). Where the statute's language is plain and unambiguous, and conveys a clear and definite meaning, the rules of statutory interpretation are not needed, and the court has no right to impose another meaning. *Paschal v. State Election Comm'n*, 317 S.C. 434, 454 S.E.2d 890 (1995)). "What legislature says in the text of a statute is considered the best evidence of the legislative intent or will.

Therefore, the courts are bound to give effect to the expressed intent of the legislature." Norman J. Singer, *Sutherland Statutory Construction* § 46.03 at 94 (5th ed. 1992). *Grier v. Amisub of South Carolina, Inc* 397 S.C. 532, 725 S.E.2d 693, 2012 WL 1522737, 2012 S.C. LEXIS 97. Inserting an s in the words grantor and grantee, substantially changes the plain language of the legislative intent.

- B.** Section 12-37-3150 of SC Codes is entitled "Determining when to appraise parcel of real property". There are two sections that address what constitutes an assessable transfer of interest (ATI) and what does not. The intent is to provide guidance on when to appraise real estate property and when not to appraise parcel of real property. Section B of 12-37-3150 item 15 states "an assessable transfer of interest does not include a transfer of a fractional interest between family members for zero monetary consideration, or a de minimis monetary consideration, whereby both the grantor and the grantee owned an interest in the property prior to the transfer. For purposes of this item, a family member includes a spouse, parent, brother, sister, child, grandparent, or grandchild."

The legislation punctuates the singular forms of grantor and grantee by use of the

word “The” meaning one person. The appellant is “The grantor” meaning, giver, and “The grantee”, meaning receiver. (See exhibit A) (R. p 31). The appellant in this case has owned and still owns the subject property. The addition of two sisters and a daughter, family members, to the property deed is exempted from the appraisal classification of assessable transfer of interest (ATI). Furthermore, there was zero monetary consideration. Appellant satisfies the requirement of SC Code 12-37-3150(B)15 for exemption status.

C. The code used by Charleston County Assessor is part of the material facts of the case (See Exhibit E) (R. p. 41). The July 7, 2025 order granting respondent summary judgement dismissed Charleston County assessor’s use of SC code Section 12-37-3150(A) (R. p. 9, lines 7-34 -p. 10 lines 1-7) to reassess the appellant’s property in 2023. Appellant argues that use of the code became the catalyst for legal proceedings regarding appellant’s property and presents genuine issue of material fact upon which the case hinges. The code states “A) For purposes of determining when a parcel of real property must be appraised, an assessable transfer of interest in real property includes, but is not limited to, the following:… (8) a transfer of an ownership interest in a single transaction or as a part of a series of related transactions within a twenty-five year period in a corporation, partnership, sole proprietorship, limited liability company, limited liability partnership, or other legal entity if the ownership interest conveyed is more than fifty percent of the

corporation, partnership, sole proprietorship, limited liability company, limited liability partnership, or other legal entity....) The language of the code is clear and unambiguous. The assessor erred in applying it because it speaks to corporations and other business entities. The subject property is residential, and use of this code constitutes genuine issues with application of South Carolina tax codes. SC Code Ann. §12-43-210 provides for uniform and equitable assessments. It states “(A) All property must be assessed uniformly and equitably throughout the state.” Assessor’s use of SC Code Ann. §12-37-3150(A) presents substantial material facts. In the order granting summary judgment, the administrative law judge justified the decision by dismissing the weight of assessor’s error. Page 3 of the order states...

“...However, the fact that the Assessor cited an inapplicable statute plays little role in the outcome of this case” (R. p. 10, lines 1-7). The code selected by the assessor puts the property in a different tax valuation bracket. Assessor’s use of the code resulted in taxes increasing from \$82,300 in 2022 to \$170,000 in 2023. Many case laws exist that states that summary judgment must be based upon evidence that is most favorable to the appellant. “Determining whether summary judgment is appropriate, the court must view “all” [Emphasis added] evidence in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Major v. City of Hartsville*, 398 S.C. 257 (2012). In *Baker v. Denton*, 37 F. Supp. 3d 794, 2014 WL 3955809 (D.S.C. 2014), the District Court, D. South Carolina, granted summary judgment to defendants due in

part to errors by plaintiff. The order granting summary judgement from The Administrative Law Judge erred in dismissing this fact of wrong code usage by assessor as not being a genuine issue.

D. Furthermore, the order granting summary judgement to respondent relied solely on the use of a deed for conveyance to affirm respondent's reassessment of the 1109 Porcher School Road Property with the result of taxes more than doubling in 2023. One of the fallacies of the order and violation of constitutional or statutory provisions hinges upon the use of deed conveyance as the lynchpin for what constitutes an assessable transfer of interest. Section B of SC Code **12-37-3150** is titled "An assessable transfer of interest **does not include:**" (Emphasis added). In this section there are 4 exemptions that use the instrument of a **deed** to convey property.

(3) a transfer through foreclosure or forfeiture of a recorded instrument or through" deed" [Emphasis added] or conveyance in lieu of a foreclosure or forfeiture, until the redemption period has expired;

(9) a transfer of an interest in a timeshare unit by "deed" [Emphasis added] or lease.

(13) a transfer or renunciation by "deed" [Emphasis added], release, or agreement of a claim of interest in real property for the purpose of quieting and confirming title to real property in the name of one or more of the existing

owners of the real property or for the purpose of confirming or establishing the location of an uncertain or disputed boundary line;

(14) the execution or recording of a “deed” [Emphasis added] to real property for the purpose of creating or terminating a joint tenancy with rights of survivorship, provided the grantors and grantees are the same; or...

Based upon these examples from SC Title 12 – Taxation Chapter 37 Assessment of Property Taxes ARTICLE 1, deed conveyance is not the litmus test for what constitutes an Assessable transfer of interest. , "[W]here there is one statute addressing an issue in general terms and another statute dealing with the identical issue in a more specific and definite manner, the more “specific statute” (Emphasis added) will be considered an exception to, or a qualifier of, the general statute and given such effect." Spectre, LLC v. S.C. Dept. of Health and Env'tl. Control, 386 S.C. 357, 688 S.E. 2d 844, 851 (2010).

ARGUMENT

II The trial court erred in ordering a summary judgement because it was based on procedures that prejudiced the appellant. Rules of Procedure in Contested Cases For The Administrative Law Court states “In South Carolina civil cases, a Certificate of Service is a document that proves a party has provided copies of legal documents to other parties involved in the case. It's crucial for showing the court that all parties have been “notified “(emphasis added) of the legal proceedings, and it's typically filed along with the original document. The certificate must include the date of service, the method used,

and the names of the parties served. The order granting summary judgement to respondents indicated that the respondent's motion for summary judgement was not mailed to the court until June 23, 2025, verified by certificate of service with United States Postal Service (See footnote of Exhibit F page 1) (R. p. 6, lines 33-34). The petitioner/appellant copy of the motion for summary judgement included certificate of proof of service dated June 11, 2025, United States Postal Service (R. p. 49). Violation of filing by respondents prejudiced the proceedings in favor of respondents. At the writing of this brief, given a preponderance of the evidence, it appears that the motion for summary judgement documents filed with South Carolina Administrative Law Court were not the same ones mailed to appellant due to appellant's documents were post marked June 11, 2025, and the court's documents were post marked June 23, 2025. Item 19 section A of rules and procedures specifically provides the framework for filing motions. It states "Any party may file a written response to the motion within ten (10) days of "the filing of the motion" [Emphasis added] unless the time is extended or shortened by the administrative law judge". The 12-day difference signifies a substantial breach in rules and procedures protocol of the South Carolina Administrative Law Court. Furthermore, the conflict in filing and service dates brings into question the validity of the documents filed by the respondent (R. p. 6, lines 33-34). (See footnote 1 of Summary Judgement Order) The appellant was deprived of adequate opportunity to prepare, and the error materially affected the proceedings. The substantial differences in proof of service dates invalidate the order for summary judgement. The discrepancy in

filing dates for motion for summary judgement shortened appellant's response time and voided substantive rights. The granting of motion for summary judgement was made upon unlawful procedure in filing dates which prejudiced the appellant's due process and deprived appellant of adequate opportunity to prepare.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing facts, arguments, case laws, state codes, and other authorities, South Carolina Court of Appeals should rule in favor of the appellant. The administrative law judge granted summary judgment to the respondents by dismissing rules and procedures that prejudice the appellant and committed errors of law as evidenced by the referenced case laws statutes, and authorities.