THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

**RECEIVED**

**Jan 23 2026**

**SC Court of Appeals**

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

The Honorable Robert L. Reibold, Administrative Law Judge  
Docket No. 25-ALJ-17-0077-CC

---

Appellate Case No. 2025-001521

---

Terry Scott, ..... Appellant,

v.

Charleston County Assessor, ..... Respondent.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

Bernard E. Ferrara, Jr., S.C. Bar No. 9034  
Marc G. Belle, S.C. Bar No. 103946  
Kevin M. DeAntonio, S.C. Bar No. 101169  
Andrew L. Hethington, S.C. Bar No. 104667  
CHARLESTON COUNTY ATTORNEY'S OFFICE  
Lonnie Hamilton, III Public Services Building  
4045 Bridge View Drive

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

### **ARGUMENT**

Respondent requests that this Court affirm that the conveyance of the Property is an ATI which initiated an appraisal of it. Respondent further requests that this Court find the fair market value of the Property for tax year 2023 is \$170,000 with a date of value of December 31, 2022, based on the Assessor’s appraisal and presentation to the Board. Respondent bases these requests on the following statutory and/or case citations.

When a tax assessment case reaches the ALC “as a request for judicial review of [a] County Board of Assessment Appeals decision upholding [an] [a]ssessor’s valuation,” the proceeding in front of the ALC is a *de novo* hearing. *Smith v. Newberry Cnty. Assessor*, 350 S.C. 572, 577, 567 S.E.2d 501, 504 (Ct. App. 2002); *see also Reliance Ins. Co. v. Smith*, 327 S.C. 528, 534, 489 S.E.2d 674, 677 (Ct. App. 1997) (“[A]lthough a case involving a property tax assessment reaches the AL[C] in the posture of an appeal, the AL[C] is not sitting in an appellate capacity and is not restricted to a review of the decision below. Instead, the proceeding before the AL[C] is in the nature of a *de novo* hearing.”).

S.C. Code Ann. § 12-37-930. Valuation of property, provides in pertinent part:

All property must be valued for taxation at its true value in money which in all cases is the price which the property would bring following reasonable exposure to the market, where both the seller and the buyer are willing, are not acting under compulsion, and are reasonably well informed of the uses

and purposes for which it is adapted and for which it is capable of being used.

S.C. Code Ann. § 12-37-930.

S.C. Code Ann. § 12-37-3130. Definitions.

As used in this article:

[ . . . ]

(4) “Assessable transfer of interest” means a transfer of an existing interest in real property that subjects the real property to appraisal. For purposes of this definition, an existing interest in real property includes life estate interests.

S.C. Code Ann. § 12-37-3130(4).

S.C. Code Ann. § 12-37-3140. Determining fair market value.

(A)(1) For property tax years beginning after 2006, the fair market value of real property is its fair market value applicable for the later of:

- (a) property tax year 2007;
- (b) December thirty-first of the year in which an assessable transfer of interest has occurred;
- (c) as determined on appeal; or
- (d) as it may be adjusted as determined in a countywide reassessment program conducted pursuant to Section 12-43-217, but limited to increases in such value as provided in subsection (B) of this section.

[...]

(E) Value attributable to additions and improvements, and changes in value resulting from assessable transfers of interest occurring in a property tax year are first subject to property tax in the following tax year except as provided pursuant to Section 12-37-670(B).

S.C. Code Ann. § 12-37-3140(A)(1) and (E).

S.C. Code Ann. § 12-37-3150. Determining when to appraise parcel of real property.

(A) For purposes of determining when a parcel of real property must be appraised, an assessable transfer of interest in real property includes, but is not limited to, the following:

(1) a conveyance by deed; . . .

An assessable transfer of interest resulting in the appraisal required pursuant to this article occurs at the time of execution of the instruments directly resulting in the transfer of interest and without regard as to whether or not the applicable instruments are recorded. Failure to record instruments resulting in a transfer of interest gives rise to no inference as to whether or not an assessable transfer of interest has occurred.

(B) An assessable transfer of interest does not include:

[. . .]

(15) a transfer of a fractional interest between family members for zero monetary consideration, or a de minimis monetary consideration, whereby both the grantor and the grantee owned an interest in the property prior to the transfer. For purposes of this item, a family member includes a spouse, parent, brother, sister, child, grandparent, or grandchild.

S.C. Code Ann. § 12-37-3150(A)(1) and (B)(15).

“All rules of statutory construction are subservient to the one that legislative intent must prevail if it can be reasonably discovered in the language used, and that language must be construed in light of the intended purpose of the statute.” *Ford v. Beaufort Cnty. Assessor*, 398 S.C. 508, 513, 730 S.E.2d 335, 338 (Ct. App. 2012).

A quit claim deed is a lawful means of conveying title. *Martin v. Ragsdale*, 71 S.C. 67, 77, 50 S.E. 671, 674 (1905). “In construing a deed, the court must determine the intent of the grantor.” *Milton P. Demetre Family Ltd. P’ship v. Beckmann*, 413 S.C. 38, 55, 773 S.E.2d 596, 605 (Ct. App. 2014). “However, ‘[a] quitclaim deed does not guarantee the quality of title, but only conveys that which the grantor may lawfully convey.’ *Mulherin-Howell v. Cobb*, 362 S.C. 588, 601, 608 S.E.2d 587, 594 (Ct. App. 2005) (acknowledging ‘a quitclaim deed does not convey the fee, but only the right, title[,] and interest of the grantor’) (citing *Martin*, 71 S.C. at 77, 50 S.E.

at 674)).” *Id.*

When a taxpayer appeals a property tax valuation, there is a presumption that an assessor’s valuation of a piece of property is correct. *See S.C. Tax Comm’n v. S.C. Tax Bd. of Review*, 278 S.C. 556, 562, 299 S.E.2d 489, 492–93 (1983); *see also* 84 C.J.S. Taxation, Sec. 537(a), p. 1036 (“On appeal to a reviewing board or officer, the assessor’s decision as to the situs of property, its taxability, and the valuation put on it generally is presumed to be correct until the contrary appears, and the person complaining has the burden of proving his grievance.”).

“A taxpayer contesting an assessment has the burden of showing that the valuation of the taxing authority is incorrect.” *Cloyd v. Mabry*, 295 S.C. 86, 88, 367 S.E.2d 171, 173 (Ct. App. 1988). “Ordinarily, this will be done by proving the actual value of the property. The taxpayer may, however, show by other evidence that the assessing authority’s valuation is incorrect. If he does so, the presumption of correctness is then removed and the taxpayer is entitled to appropriate relief.” *Id.* at 88–89, 367 S.E.2d at 173 (citation omitted). To determine a fair market price for real property, comparisons of the sale price of other properties of the same character may be utilized. *Id.*; *see also* 84 C.J.S. Taxation, Sec. 410-11.

South Carolina Courts have relied on the Appraisal Institute’s standards for valuation of real property as published and updated in several editions of *The Appraisal of Real Estate*, which endorses the professional standards of the *Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice*. *See, e.g., S.C. Tax Comm’n v. S.C. Tax Bd. of Review*, 287 S.C. 415, 399 S.E.2d 131 (Ct. App. 1985).

The Assessor begins argument by first addressing the ultimate issue raised in this case. After addressing the ultimate issue, the Assessor will respond in turn to the issues on appeal as presented by Appellant.

**I. THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE PROPERLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO THE CHARLESTON COUNTY ASSESSOR THAT AN ASSESSABLE TRANSFER OF INTEREST OCCURRED UPON THE CONVEYANCE OF THE REAL PROPERTY OF APPELLANT PURSUANT TO S.C. CODE ANN. § 12-37-3150(A)(1).**

This case is an ATI appeal. The primary issue before the Court is the appropriate value, for *ad valorem* taxation purposes, of the Property for tax year 2023. Resolution of this issue will require the Court to determine whether there is an ATI of the Property as that term is defined in S.C. Code Ann. § 12-37-3130. The issue is primarily a legal one as the parties dispute the interpretation and application of the related statutes.

The first issue involves whether to apply the ATI statute provided by S.C. Code Ann. § 12-37-3150 to a conveyance by deed of ownership interest in the Property from the Appellant to herself, her two sisters, and her daughter, as joint tenants with right of survivorship and not as tenants in common. The Assessor claims that for purposes of determining when a parcel of real property must be appraised, any conveyance of a property by deed must be appraised as an ATI.

A conveyance by quitclaim deed can be considered an ATI if it meets the statutory definition of an ATI, which is defined as a transfer of an existing interest in real property that subjects the real property to appraisal. A quitclaim deed is not explicitly excluded from this definition as those in § 12-37-3150(B)(1)-(15). South Carolina law clearly establishes that a quitclaim constitutes a valid conveyance by deed. *See Martin v. Ragsdale*, 71 S.C. 67, 50 S.E. 671 (1905); *see also Mulhern-Howell v. Cobb*, 362 S.C. 588, 608 S.E.2d 587 (Ct. App. 2005) and *Milton P. Demetre Family Ltd. P'ship v. Beckmann*, 413 S.C. 38, 773 S.E.2d 596 (Ct. App. 2014).

Here, the Assessor's application of § 12-37-3150(A)(1) resulted in the Assessor making the determination that Appellant's conveyance by quitclaim deed is an ATI. And thus, because the Property underwent an ATI on July 29, 2022, this triggered a new appraisal of the Property's fair market value as of December 31, 2022. That value would go into effect for tax year 2023.

See S.C. Code Ann. § 12-37-3140(A)(1)(b) and (E). The Assessor appraised the Property's fair market value at \$170,000 for tax year 2022, which was carried forward to 2023.

**II. THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE PROPERLY INTERPRETED AND APPLIED S.C. CODE ANN. § 12-37-3140(A)(1) AND (E) IN DETERMINING THE FAIR MARKET VALUE OF THE REAL PROPERTY OF APPELLANT AS APPRAISED BY THE CHARLESTON COUNTY ASSESSOR FOR THE 2023 TAX YEAR.**

Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 12-37-3140(A)(1), the fair market value of real property is its fair market value applicable for the later of: (a) property tax year 2007; (b) **December thirty-first of the year in which an assessable transfer of interest has occurred**; (c) as determined on appeal; or (d) as determined in a countywide reassessment program. (emphasis added). Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 12-37-3140(E), changes in value resulting from assessable transfers of interest occurring in a property tax year are first subject to property tax in the following tax year.

The taxable status of real property for a given year is to be determined as of December 31st of the preceding tax year. See *Hampton Friends of the Arts v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 401 S.C. 372, 375, 737 S.E.2d 628, 629–30 (2013); see also *Atkinson Dredging Co. v. Thomas*, 266 S.C. 361, 369, 223 S.E.2d 592, 596 (1976).

As noted earlier, the Property underwent an ATI in 2022 when the Property was conveyed via quitclaim deed. This triggered a new appraisal of the Property's fair market value. The date of valuation for the appraisal was December 31, 2022. That fair market value would go into effect for tax year 2023. See S.C. Code Ann. § 12-37-3140(A)(1)(b) and (E). Thus, the Assessor appraised the Property's fair market value at \$170,000 for tax year 2022, which was carried forward to 2023.

To determine a fair market price for real property, comparisons of the sale price of other properties of the same character may be utilized. See *Cloyd v. Mabry*, *supra*. The Assessor performed an appraisal in accordance with the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal

Practice utilizing the sales comparison approach to value showing various comparable properties to support the fair market value of \$170,000.

Appellant did not provide an appraisal of the Property based on the date of value of December 31, 2022. As noted in the ALJ's Order Granting Motion for Summary Judgment, Appellant disputes the propriety of a new assessment, but "she has not challenged the amount of the new appraised value." (R. p. 13). Without a challenge to the presumption of correctness of the Assessor's value, Appellant concedes the value, and the ALJ is correct in concluding the fair market value of the Property is \$170,000 for tax year 2023.

The Assessor asks this Court to affirm the ALC Order concluding that the Property's fair market value is \$170,000 for tax year 2023, upon the ground that Appellant did not challenge the fair market value of the appraisal, and that Appellant was not eligible for the ATI exemption pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 12-37-3150(B)(15).

**III. APPELLANT FAILS TO SHOW THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE'S ORDER IS BASED ON ERRORS OF LAW OR MADE UPON UNLAWFUL PROCEDURE PURSUANT TO S.C. CODE ANN. § 1-23-610(B).**

**A. Appellant Fails to Show that the Plain Language and Meaning of S.C. Code Ann. § 12-37-3150(B)(15) was Altered by the Order.**

Appellant first argues, Final Brief Section I.A. at 6, that the ALJ altered the plain language and meaning of § 12-37-3150(B)(15) by "changing grantor to grantors and grantee to grantees thereby denying appellant exemption status." Appellant asserts that, "inserting an s in the words grantor and grantee, **substantially** changes the plain language of the legislative intent." (Final Br. of Appellant at 8) (emphasis added). However, Appellant presents no cogent argument or analysis, and no showing how inserting an s in the words substantially changes the language and constitutes an error of law.

**B. Appellant Fails to Show She Satisfies the Requirement of S.C. Code Ann. § 12-37-3150(B)(15).**

Appellant asserts, Final Brief Section I.B. at 9, that she has owned and still owns the Property, and that the addition of her two sisters and a daughter to the deed exempts the Property from the classification of an ATI. Appellant claims she satisfies the requirements of § 12-37-3150(B)(15). Again, she presents no reasoned argument regarding what she claims is the error of law or unlawful procedure.

Appellant has not addressed the requirement of the statute that she and her sisters and daughter must own an interest in the property prior to the transfer. Appellant's reliance on § 12-37-3150(B)(15) is not based upon a plain reading of the statute, and any attempt to explain away how she satisfies the statutory requirement is pointless. Section 12-37-3150(B)(15) contemplates that both the grantor and the grantee owned an interest in the property prior to the transfer of interest. In this case, § 12-37-3150(B)(15) does not apply because both the grantor and grantees did not own an interest in the Property prior to the conveyance. Instead, Appellant was the sole owner of the Property prior to transferring her ownership interest to herself, her two sisters and a daughter.

Nonetheless, Appellant takes the position that the statute's exemption is met because even though the three grantees had no interest in the Property before the conveyance, "she had an interest before the transfer, and is both a grantor and a grantee." (R. p. 12). The ALJ acknowledges Appellant's argument changes the requirement of the statute by altering the plain language of it. The statute provides that the requirement of the conveyance be one "whereby both *the* grantor and *the* grantee" owned an interest prior to conveyance to one "whereby both *a* grantor and *a* grantee" owned an interest prior to conveyance. (R. p. 12).

The ALJ provides the best explanation for rejecting Appellant's argument:

The Court does not construe the statute in this manner. The statute is expressed in the singular (“the” grantor and “the” grantee), and the circumstance envisioned by the statute is therefore one in which all grantors and all grantees would have an interest in the property prior to the transfer. Reading the statute as Petitioner suggests would negate this requirement. (R. p. 12).

The reading of the statute by the ALJ—that even though it is expressed in the singular—contemplates “situations in which more than one grantor or grantee might be involved.” This is the correct interpretation of S.C. Code Ann. § 12-37-3150(B)(15), which the ALJ supports citing S.C. Code Ann. § 2-7-30, Construction of Words. (R. p. 13).

**C. Appellant Fails to Show the ALJ Erred in Dismissing the Assessor’s Initial Application of the Statute.**

Appellant erroneously states the statutory section the Assessor cited before the Board is a material fact of the case. The ALC eliminates Appellant’s argument based on the law that a contested case hearing is a *de novo* proceeding. (R. p. 10). Appellant understands the meaning of the *de novo* standard because she cites it in her Standard of Review. She states:

- The Court of Appeals reviews order granting summary judgment *de novo*,
- This means the appellate court makes its own independent judgment on the matter, without giving deference to the lower court’s decision,
- The appellate court essentially starts from scratch, reviewing the same evidence and legal arguments presented to the trial court,
- Determining the proper interpretation of a statute is a question of law, and this Court reviews questions of law *de novo*. (Final Br. of Appellant at 2).

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